# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

| DIAMOND AIRCRAFT INDUSTRIES, INC., a ) |   |
|--|---|
| foreign corporation,                   | ) |
|  | ) |
| Appellant,                             | ) |
|  | ) |
| VS.                                    | ) |
| ALAN HOROWITCH,                        | ) |
| · · · · - · ·                          | ) |
| Appellee.                              | ) |
|  | / |

CASE NO.: SC11-1371

# ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

# **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. Horowitch Sues Diamond Under FDUTPA And Actively Litigates His Right To Do So For Seven Months.

In September of 2006, Plaintiff, Alan Horowitch, brought this lawsuit in state court against Diamond Aircraft Industries, Inc. (2:1).<sup>1</sup> Horowitch initially sued Diamond in three counts, specific performance, breach of contract, and breach of contract of good faith and fair dealing. (2:3-5). All three counts sought damages. (2:3-5). Horowitch contended Diamond failed to sell him a "D-Jet" airplane at the price promised in an alleged contract. (2:3-6). After removing this matter to federal district court, Diamond denied it had agreed to sell Horowitch the D-Jet at a fixed price because the price and specifications were only preliminary estimates and subject to change. (3:11).

Five months later, Horowitch sought leave to file an amended complaint to include a fourth claim under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act ("FDUTPA"). (30:1). Horowitch admitted he was a resident of Arizona and Diamond was a foreign corporation. (30:Ex.A:1). Nonetheless, Horowitch insisted he was a consumer as defined by Subsection 501.203(7), Florida Statutes. (30:Ex.A:11). Horowitch sought attorney's fees under FDUTPA. (30:Ex.A:12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All record citations are to the docket number in the federal district court, which the Eleventh Circuit forwarded to this Court, followed by the appropriate page or exhibit number from that docket item.

Close to the time Horowitch filed his motion to amend, he moved to compel Diamond to produce discovery documents. (34:1). Horowitch highlighted his pending motion to amend his complaint to include his additional FDUTPA claim. (34:3, n.1). Throughout his motion, Horowitch argued the discovery he sought was relevant to his allegations that Diamond had engaged in a deceptive trade practice. (34: 2, 10, 13, 16, 19).

In opposition to Horowitch's motion to amend to add his FDUTPA claim, Diamond explained that if the alleged injury occurred exclusively outside of Florida, a court should dismiss the complaints of non-residents under FDUTPA. (37:4). Diamond reasoned that Horowitch could not pursue his FDUTPA claim because none of the parties, witnesses or evidence were located in the state and Horowitch was not a Florida resident. (37:5). Regardless, the District Court granted Horowitch's motion for leave to file the amended complaint. (38:1). The District Court simultaneously ordered Diamond to file a motion to dismiss to address the issues Diamond raised in opposition to the motion to amend. (38:2).

Horowitch filed the amended complaint, still alleging he was a resident of Arizona, that Diamond was a foreign corporation, and seeking damages and attorney's fees under FDUTPA. (41:1, 11). As instructed by the District Court, Diamond moved to dismiss Horowitch's FDUTPA claim. (46:1). Diamond reaffirmed its prior arguments including, among other matters, that Horowitch did

2

not have the right to proceed under FDUTPA as an Arizona resident and when the acts he criticized did not occur in Florida. (46:1). Diamond simultaneously filed an answer and affirmative defenses to Horowitch's amended complaint. (45:1). Among other things, Diamond affirmatively alleged that plaintiff could not proceed under FDUTPA because the alleged injury occurred exclusively outside of Florida, none of the parties, witnesses or evidence were located in Florida and the plaintiff was not a Florida resident. (45:14-15).

Horowitch spent over eight pages responding to Diamond's dismissal motion. (48:1-9). He claimed that Diamond wrongly argued Horowitch could not pursue his FDUTPA claim. (48:1-9). Horowitch posited that FDUTPA applied because the parties' agreement contained a Florida choice-of-law clause. (48:2-9). Among other things, Horowitch argued that FDUTPA applied to non-Florida citizens. (48:6). However, Horowitch asked the District Court to allow him to pursue a claim under the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act ("ACFA") if he could not pursue the FDUTPA claim. (48:9-10).

The District Court denied Diamond's dismissal motion. (57:1). The court noted that the complaint ambiguously described where the events occurred. (57:3). The court concluded factual findings were needed to resolve the motion, which it could not do at the time. (57:1, n.3). The court suggested that the allegations might give rise to claims under the laws of other states. (57:3). After Horowitch filed the amended complaint, Diamond served a \$40,000 offer of judgment on Horowitch pursuant to Section 768.79, Florida Statutes. (196-2). The offer did not contain a certificate of service. (196-2). The offer stated that it was "intended to settle all claims that were or could be asserted by Plaintiff against Diamond..." (196-2). Horowitch did not accept this offer.

Once discovery closed, the parties filed competing summary judgment motions. Diamond moved for summary judgment on Horowitch's entire amended complaint, including his FDUTPA claim. (93:1). Diamond continued advocating that Horowitch could not proceed under FDUTPA because he was not a Florida resident and the acts did not occur in Florida. (93:20-21).

Hedging his bets, Horowitch asserted he could pursue a claim under either FDUTPA or Arizona law. (100:14, n.8). Horowitch persisted arguing that he was entitled to pursue his FDUTPA claim and that the court should deny Diamond's motion for summary judgment on his FDUTPA claim. (100:15-20). Horowitch refused to recognize Diamond's argument that he could not pursue a claim under FDUTPA because he was an Arizona resident and the conduct about which he complained did not occur in Florida. (100:1).

In the parties' joint pre-trial statement, Horowitch maintained his right to pursue his FDUTPA claim. (105:5-6). In his statement of money damages, Horowitch insisted Diamond owed him for his attorney's fees -- which were only available under FDUTPA. (105:13). In their statement of applicable principles of law in which there was agreement, the parties advised that, under Florida law, a consumer claim for damages under FDUTPA had three elements: (1) a deceptive act or unfair practice; (2) causation; and (3) actual damages. (105:36). The pretrial statement noted an issue of law remaining for the court to resolve was whether Horowitch could bring a claim under FDUTPA. (105:37). Again, Horowitch persisted in pursuing his FDUTPA claim while attempting to state a claim under Arizona law as a fall-back position. (105:38).

# B. The District Court Grants Diamond's Motion For Summary Judgment And Diamond Prevails On The Remaining Claims At Trial.

After the parties filed their joint pre-trial statement, and seven months after the parties had actively litigated Horowitch's right to pursue a FDUTPA claim, the District Court ruled on the parties' motions for summary judgments. (108:1). After granting Diamond's motion for summary judgment on Horowitch's specific performance claim, the court found that Horowitch could not pursue his FDUTPA claim. (108:16). The court found that because Horowitch was an Arizona resident, Diamond a Canadian company and the underlying acts occurred outside Florida, Arizona had the most significant relationship to Horowitch's claim. (108:17). The court permitted Horowitch to proceed under ACFA. (108:17). After an interlocutory appeal and dismissal of Horowitch's remaining contract claims, the District Court held a bench trial solely on Horowitch's ACFA claim. (178:1). Diamond prevailed. (192:1-25). The District Court found that Diamond had acted in good faith and had not deceived Horowitch or engaged in misleading conduct. (192:15, 16, 20, 22-25).

## C. Diamond Seeks Attorney's Fees And Costs Under FDUTPA And Its Offer Of Judgment.

Diamond filed a motion for attorney's fees and costs. (196:1). In it, Diamond argued two statutory basis for attorney's fees: Florida's Offer of Judgment Statute, Section 768.79, Florida Statutes, and Section 501.2105, Florida Statutes, found in FDUTPA. (196:3).

To support its FDUTPA fee claim, Diamond explained that fees should be awarded under FDUTPA even though the District Court found FDUTPA did not apply to this case. (196:8-9). Diamond specifically cited numerous cases from Florida courts that permitted an award of FDUTPA attorneys fees even though the court concluded FDUTPA did not apply. (196:9).

To support its offer of judgment fee claim, Diamond produced a timelymade \$40,000 offer of judgment. (196-2). The offer stated that it was made "to resolve all claims that were or could have been asserted by Plaintiff against Diamond Aircraft in the Amended Complaint" and conditioned the offer on the dismissal of the pending claims with prejudice. (216:3). Given a \$20,0000

б

limitation of liability under the purchase order form, Diamond reasoned that the offer was clearly made in a good faith effort to conclude the litigation and avoid further defense costs, citing Section 768.79(7)(a), Florida Statutes. (196:4-5). Diamond noted that Horowitch did not accept the offer and it was therefore deemed rejected after 30 days under Section 768.79(1), Florida Statutes. (196:4-5). Because Horowitch recovered nothing, Diamond's statutory entitlement to attorney's fees was triggered under Section 768.79(1). (196:4-5).

# D. The Federal District Court Denies Diamond's Claim For Attorney's Fees And Costs By Concluding FDUTPA Did Not Apply And The Offer Of Judgment Was Unenforceable.

The District Court referred the matter to the Magistrate Judge for a report and recommendation. (198:n.1). Based upon Horowitch's arguments, the Magistrate Judge recommended that Diamond was not entitled to attorneys' fees. (210:1; 211:1). Diamond filed an objection to address those findings. (213:1; 214:1). The District Court adopted and affirmed the report and recommendation of the Magistrate Judge and entered an order which denied Diamond's motion for attorney's fee and reasonable costs. (216:10).

The District Court first found that its prior conclusion that FDUTPA did not apply to this case precluded Diamond from recovering attorney's fees under FDUTPA. (216:7). In reaching this conclusion, the court rejected authority from Florida courts which permits FDUTPA attorney's fees once a plaintiff invokes FDUTPA. (216:7). Second, the District Court construed the language of the offer of judgment statute which permits offer of judgments in "any civil action for damages." (216:6-7). The District Court found Diamond's offer of judgment unenforceable because Horowitch had raised an alternative claim for specific performance, which was not a claim for money damages. (216:6-7).

# E. Diamond Appeals and the Eleventh Circuit Certifies Four Questions To This Court.

Diamond timely appealed the District Court's orders to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. (218:1). After receiving briefing and entertaining oral argument, the Eleventh Circuit certified four questions to this Court. *Diamond Aircraft Industries, Inc. v. Horowitch,* 645 F. 3d 1254 (11th Cir. 2011). In doing so, the Eleventh Circuit identified several legal issues.

The Eleventh Circuit found it unclear whether Florida law would find this offer of judgment enforceable. *Id.* at 1261-1262. First, the Eleventh Circuit held that, under *Erie* principles,<sup>2</sup> Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442's requirement for a certificate of service was procedural and thus did not apply in federal court. *Id.* at 1258. The Eleventh Circuit held that that Rule 1.442(c)(2)(F) -- which requires an offer of judgment to "state whether the proposal includes attorney's fees and whether attorney's fees are part of the legal claim" -- is substantive. *Id.* at 1258. Though it is substantive, the Eleventh Circuit was unable to determine

2

Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938).

whether the alleged failure to comply with this provision invalidated the offer of judgment. *Id.* at 1261-1262. The Eleventh Circuit specifically focused on this Court's decision in *Campbell v. Gordon*, 959 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2007), which strictly construed the offer of judgment statute and Rule 1.442 even with respect to purely technical error. *Id.* The Eleventh Circuit noted that although *Campbell* did not directly address (c)(2)(F), its strict construction analysis might undermine prior Florida decisions enforcing offers of judgments which did not comply with (c)(2)(F). *Id.* 

Next, the Eleventh Circuit questioned the District Court's conclusion that the offer of judgment statute did not apply when the lawsuit presented equitable claims. *Id.* at 1262. The Eleventh Circuit recognized that the cases which had so held were factually dissimilar from this case. *Id.* at 1263. The Eleventh Circuit concluded a different result might be had here given that Horowitch made his specific performance claim alternative to his damages claim. *Id.* Even if not, the Eleventh Circuit highlighted important policy considerations that might permit enforcement of the offer of judgment where the claim for specific performance was so substantially lacking in merit. *Id.* 

Finally, the Eleventh Circuit addressed the FDUTPA attorney's fee claim and concluded that, under *Erie* principles, the fee shifting provision of FDUTPA was also substantive. *Id.* at 1259. While it generally found policy reasons to

9

support the application of the fee provision in a case in which a trial court had concluded on summary judgment that the substantive law applied from another state, the absence of Florida law undermined the Eleventh Circuit's ability to definitively answer the question. *Id.* at 1266. Because no Florida case law existed on this issue, the Eleventh Circuit further found itself without guidance as to the time period a prevailing party could recover fees under this scenario. Nonetheless, the Eleventh Circuit envisioned several reasons why attorney's fees should be available for the entire case, rather than limiting fees to before summary judgment. *Id.* Given its certification of the offer of judgment issues, the Eleventh Circuit certified these questions, too. *Id.* at 1267.

### **CERTIFIED QUESTIONS**

- I. DOES FLA. STAT. § 501.2105 ENTITLE A PREVAILING DEFENDANT TO AN ATTORNEY'S FEE AWARD IN A CASE IN WHICH A PLAINTIFF BRINGS AN UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM UNDER THE FDUTPA, BUT THE DISTRICT COURT DECIDES THAT THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF A DIFFERENT STATE GOVERNS THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM, AND THE DEFENDANT ULTIMATELY PREVAILS ON THAT CLAIM?
- II. IF FLA. STAT. § 501.2105 APPLIES UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED IN THE PREVIOUS QUESTION, DOES IT APPLY ONLY TO THE PERIOD OF LITIGATION UP TO THE POINT THAT THE DISTRICT COURT HELD THAT THE PLAINTIFF COULD NOT PURSUE THE FDUTPA CLAIM BECAUSE FLORIDA LAW DID NOT APPLY TO HIS UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM, OR DOES IT APPLY TO THE ENTIRETY OF THE LITIGATION?
- III. DOES FLA. STAT. § 768.79 APPLY TO CASES THAT SEEK EQUITABLE RELIEF IN THE ALTERNATIVE TO MONEY DAMAGES; AND, EVEN IF IT DOES NOT GENERALLY APPLY TO SUCH CASES, IS THERE ANY EXCEPTION FOR CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH THE CLAIM FOR EQUITABLE RELIEF IS SERIOUSLY LACKING IN MERIT?
- IV. UNDER FLA. STAT. § 768.79 AND RULE 1.442, IS A DEFENDANT'S OFFER OF JUDGMENT VALID IF, IN A CASE IN WHICH THE PLAINTIFF DEMANDS ATTORNEY'S FEES, THE OFFER PURPORTS TO SATISFY ALL CLAIMS BUT FAILS TO SPECIFY WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE INCLUDED AND FAILS TO SPECIFY WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE PART OF THE LEGAL CLAIM?

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Horowitch fought for seven months to maintain his FDUTPA claim because it afforded him a means to demand attorney's fees for his ill-conceived lawsuit. Once he lost under FDUTPA on the basis that it did not apply, Horowitch behaved as though FDUTPA had never been a part of his case, except when convenient for him. Although finding strong policy reasons to enforce the FDUTPA fee provision here, the Eleventh Circuit acknowledged no Florida case has addressed whether the FDUTPA attorney's fees provision applies when the basis for a party's loss under FDUTPA is that the law of another jurisdiction applies.

There is no good legal or policy reason why this basis for Horowitch's loss should deprive Diamond of fees for its defense against this claim. No authority permits a party to seek what essentially amounts to an advisory opinion concerning its ability to pursue a claim, then shirk its duty to pay attorney's fees when told it cannot. Horowitch continuously invoked FDUTPA, refusing to relent until the Court concluded FDUTPA did not apply just days before the originally scheduled trial. Declining to award Diamond its attorney's fees under FDUTPA rewards Horowitch for bringing a claim he should not have brought, refused to give up, and pursued until the District Court ruled he could not. Failing to describe this as a win for Diamond is the classic exaltation of form over substance. Because Diamond is entitled to its attorney's fees under FDUTPA, this Court should also find Diamond entitled to fees for defending the entire case. The Eleventh Circuit found no factually analogous decision that addressed whether attorney's fees should be calculated through the date of final judgment. But as the Eleventh Circuit recognized, Diamond effectively defended against the FDUTPA claim until Horowitch decided not to appeal the adverse final judgment. Concomitant with these facts, the statute expressly tells courts to award attorney's fees for the entire case and after all appeals have concluded. Taken together, this procedural reality and statutory language provide a substantive basis to agree with the Eleventh Circuit's recommendation that FDUTPA attorney's fees be awarded for the entire case.

The Eleventh Circuit was equally correct in its belief that Diamond should recover under its offer of judgment. Florida courts have routinely applied the offer of judgment statute to lawsuits seeking equitable relief. The few Florida cases that across-the-board refuse to do so are wrong because the plain language of the statute applies to "any civil action for damages" not "exclusively" or "solely" for damages. Alternatively, these decisions can be factually distinguished because they did not involve alternative claims for equitable relief, creating an enforcement conundrum. If the law is construed otherwise, crafty plaintiffs will always include alternative claims for equitable relief to avoid offers of judgment. As the Eleventh Circuit noted, this is a particularly troublesome result, especially when the equitable claim is so seriously lacking in merit, as the Eleventh Circuit found was the case here.

The last question certified by the Eleventh Circuit results from this Court's directive that courts strictly construe Rule 1.442. While Diamond does not quibble with this mandate, Diamond submits that its offer complied with the Rule. Rule 1.442(c)(2)(F) requires a party making an offer to specify whether attorney's fees are included and whether attorney's fees are part of the legal claim. Diamond's offer to settle "all claims" complied with the Rule for two reasons. First, if Horowitch is correct that FDUTPA did not apply so he can avoid owing FDUTPA attorney's fees, then he cannot consistently argue that attorney's fees are part of his claim. If this second point is accepted, Florida courts hold that a party need not make a statement about a condition that is not relevant. But even if FDUTPA is part of Horowitch's claim (which Diamond contends), Subsection (c)(2)(F) is not logically triggered unless the offer of judgment is for less than all claims. Here, as the Eleventh Circuit noted, all claims were being settled, which included attorney's fees. Diamond followed the Rule.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. SECTION 501.2105, FLORIDA STATUTES, ENTITLES A PREVAILING DEFENDANT TO AN ATTORNEY'S FEE AWARD IN A CASE IN WHICH A PLAINTIFF BRINGS AN UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM UNDER THE FDUTPA, BUT THE DISTRICT COURT DECIDES THAT THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF A DIFFERENT STATE GOVERNS THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM, AND THE DEFENDANT ULTIMATELY PREVAILS ON THAT CLAIM.

Diamond's position is quite simple. Horowitch pled FDUTPA. He sought attorney's fees under it. Horowitch fought Diamond for seven months against dismissal of his FDUTPA claim, but ultimately lost on it. Diamond won under FDUTPA, thereby triggering its right to attorney's fees under Section 501.2105, Florida Statutes.

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