IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

ALAN HOROWITCH)	
Plaintiff/Appellee,)	
v.)	G1 GE NO. GG11 1251
DIAMOND AIRCRAFT INDUSTRIES, INC.)))	CASE NO. SC11-1371
Defendant/Appellant.)	

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

James C. Hauser

Florida Bar No. 0168348

750 Live Oak Street

Maitland, Florida 32751

William V. Custer, IV

Georgia Bar No. 202910

BRYAN CAVE LLP

One Atlantic Center, 14th Floor

Telephone: (407) 951-6865 1201 W. Peachtree Street, NW

Facsimile: (407) 660-3009 Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Telephone: (404) 572-6600 Facsimile: (404) 572-6999 Bill.Custer@bryancave.com

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Dr. Horowitch is a consumer who was unfairly taken advantage of by Diamond's deceptive marketing and dishonest attempts to revoke a contract signed by both parties where Diamond promised to deliver the fourth jet airplane it manufactured to Dr. Horowitch at a set price. Instead of accepting Diamond's attempt to unilaterally raise the price it had promised to sell this unique plane, Dr. Horowitch filed suit seeking specific performance of the contract, or in the alternative, breach of contract, breach of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and deceptive trade practices. After a hotly disputed case that went to a bench trial on Dr. Horowitch's deceptive trade practices claim, Diamond prevailed under Arizona law. Diamond now seeks to collect attorneys' fees from Dr. Horowitch based on a statute that did not govern the parties' dispute and an offer of judgment with fatal flaws. This request is grossly unfair and unsupported by Florida law.

The Eleventh Circuit has posed four questions to this Court, all of which would permit Diamond to seek at least some portion of its attorneys' fees if answered in the affirmative. Although Diamond has inexplicably changed the order of the questions from how they were initially posed by Eleventh Circuit, Dr. Horowitch has mirrored Diamond's brief for clarity's sake. In short, Dr. Horowitch contends that this Court should answer "no" to all of the questions.

First, the Florida Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act ("FDUTPA") cannot provide a basis for a fee award in the present case because § 501.2105, Florida Statutes, the attorney's fee provision of FDUTPA, cannot be used to award attorneys' fees where Florida law did not govern Dr. Horowitch's claim. In fact, FDUTPA was never applied at any point in this action, nor could it be.

Furthermore, the statutory language of FDUTPA does not support such an award.

Second, even if Diamond could collect attorneys' fees under FDUTPA, the statute only permits an award of fees from for litigation "resulting from an act or practice involving a violation of [FDUTPA]," and therefore Diamond is barred from collecting any attorneys' fees it incurred after Arizona law was determined to govern Dr. Horowitch's deceptive trade practices claim. Permitting Diamond to collect fees for the entirety of the litigation, when FDUTPA played only a small part in the case's initial phase, is therefore contrary to the clear language of the statute.

Third, Diamond's offer of judgment fails because Dr. Horowitch's primary claim was for specific performance, i.e. delivery of the D-Jet aircraft, and § 768.79, Florida Statutes does not apply to claims that seek equitable relief. Pleading an equitable claim in the alternative has no affect on this rule. Furthermore, this Court should not create some exception for allegedly "meritless" claims because

such a standard would be impossible to enforce, and even if it could be, Dr. Horowitch's claim was not lacking in merit.

Finally, Diamond's failure to disclose whether its offer of judgment included attorneys' fees is not only a clear violation of the plain language of Rule 1.442, but also a mistake that substantively prejudiced Dr. Horowitch in evaluating Diamond's offer. Diamond's inclusion of language stating that the offer was to satisfy "all claims" did not clarify this error. Therefore, Diamond's offer of judgment is unenforceable for this additional reason as well.

ARGUMENT

I. FDUTPA DOES NOT PROVIDE A BASIS FOR AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES WHEN THE DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES LAWS OF ANOTHER STATE ARE APPLIED.

Diamond cannot collect attorneys fees pursuant to the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act ("FDUTPA") because Dr. Horowitch's claim was litigated and tried under the deceptive trade practices laws of a completely different state. Nevertheless, The Eleventh Circuit posed the following question on this issue:

DOES FLA. STAT. § 501.2105 ENTITLE A PREVAILING DEFENDANT TO AN ATTORNEY'S FEE AWARD IN A CASE IN WHICH A PLAINTIFF BRINGS AN UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM UNDER THE FDUTPA, BUT THE DISTRICT COURT DECIDES THAT THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF A DIFFERENT STATE GOVERNS THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM, AND THE DEFENDANT ULTIMATELY PREVAILS ON THAT CLAIM?

Diamond is seeking to collect attorneys' fees under a statute that was never even applied to Dr. Horowitch's claim, and which he never was allowed to litigate the merits of, is barred by Florida law because: (A) § 501.2105, Florida Statutes ("Section 501.2105") does not permit an award of attorneys' fees if FDUTPA does not govern the parties' dispute; (B) the statutory language at issue does not support such an award; and (C) Diamond cites no Florida cases that would support this argument. Therefore, this Court should answer "no" to this certified question.

A. Section 501.2105 Does Not Permit An Award of Attorneys' Fees If A Party Only Prevails Under A Foreign Statute.

It is black letter law in Florida that because an award of attorneys' fees is in derogation of the common law, statutes permitting such an award will be strictly construed. Campbell v. Goldman, 959 So. 2d 223, 226 (Fla. 2007); Daniels v. Florida Dept. of Health, 898 So. 2d 61, 65 (Fla. 2005); Major League Baseball v. Morsani, 790 So. 2d 1071, 1077-78 (Fla. 2001); Gershuny v. Martin McFall Messenger Anesthesia Professional Association, 539 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 1989). Consequently, the right to attorneys' fees under FDUTPA must be strictly construed. If FDUTPA did not govern the parties dispute, then Diamond could not have prevailed under it, and a strict construction of Section 501.2105(1) mandates that Diamond not be permitted to recover attorneys' fees.

It is axiomatic that a party cannot recover attorneys' fees under a non-applicable statute. There is a world of difference between a case where the plaintiff is unable to prove that the actions of the defendant violated FDUTPA, and a case where **FDUTPA was never even applied**. In the latter situation, the defendant cannot recover attorneys' fees because the defendant did not prevail under FDUTPA. By contrast, the defendant can recover attorneys' fees in the former situation because the plaintiff failed to prove that the acts of the defendant constituted an unfair trade practice under FDUTPA.

In similar cases where Florida courts have interpreted statutes permitting attorneys' fees, Florida courts have denied any attorneys' fee award unless the statute specifically applied to the facts of the case. See Florida Hurricane Protection and Awing, Inc., v. Pastina, 43 So. 3d 893 (Fla. 4th DCA en Banc 2010) (consumer had no right to attorneys' fees under § 57.105(7), Florida Statutes, the reciprocal attorneys' fees statute, because the consumer's lawsuit did not involve the issue of collection by the contractor, and § 57.105(7), Florida Statutes only permits fees if they are sought on **exactly** the same basis as that drafted in the contract). If Florida courts do not permit attorneys' fees when a statute is not broad enough to award attorneys' fees to the prevailing party, certainly it cannot award attorneys' fees to the prevailing party if the statute does not even apply.

In the case at bar, Diamond prevailed under Arizona's version of the Deceptive Trade Practice Act. However, because Arizona law does not permit the recovery of attorneys' fees, Diamond cannot recover attorneys' fees from Dr. Horowitch. The absurdity of permitting Diamond to collect fees is apparent if one considers that if Dr. Horowitch had prevailed under the Arizona law that was actually applied to the case, Dr. Horowitch would not have been entitled to attorneys' fees. To permit Diamond to recover attorneys' fees in the case at bar would put Dr. Horowitch and similarly situated plaintiffs in the position of "heads

you win, tails I lose," a proposition that the Florida Legislature could not have intended when enacting a consumer protection statute.

B. A Plain Reading Of Section 501.2105 Indicates That It Does Not Provide a Basis for Attorneys' Fees When FDUTPA Is Never Applied.

Nothing in the statutory language of Section 501.2105 suggests that it was intended to provide an attorneys' fees award if FDUTPA itself was never applied in the action action. Section 501.2105 reads:

(1) In any civil litigation **resulting from an act or practice involving a violation of this part**, . . . the **prevailing party**, after judgment in the trial court and exhaustion of all appeals, if any, may receive his or her reasonable attorneys' fees and costs from the nonprevailing party.

(Emphasis added). Nothing in this wording remotely implies that the legislature intended to permit the recovery of attorneys' fees if a party invoked Section 501.2105 but another state's law was found to govern the parties' dispute.

To permit attorneys' fees under a law that did not govern the parties' dispute is also a radical departure from the common law. It is black letter law that unless there unless there is a statute or contract that permits attorneys' fees to the prevailing party, the losing party is not liable for attorneys' fees. <u>Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe</u>, 472 So. 2d 1145, 1148 (Fla. 1985). Had the Florida legislature intended the radical result that a party, by merely invoking Florida law, would be responsible for the opposing party's attorneys' fees even though Florida

law did not govern the parties' dispute, the legislature would have explicitly said so in the statute.

C. Diamond's Argument That FDUPTA Permits Attorneys' Fees When FDUPTA Does Not Apply Is Not Persuasive.

None of the cases cited by Diamond suggest that FDUTPA permits the recovery of attorneys' fees where a foreign state's laws govern the claims set forth by the plaintiff.

Diamond first cites two Ninth Circuit cases involving the application of a particular California statute in federal court. (Diamond's Initial Brief pp. 15-16, citing Love v. Associated Newspapers, Ltd., 611 F.3d 601, 614 (9th Cir. 2010); Cairns v. Franklin Co., 292 F.3d 119, 1156 (9th Cir. 2002)). These cases, however, have nothing to do with FDUTPA or Florida law, and therefore are not relevant here.

Diamond then cites two Florida cases for the proposition that FDUTPA can provide a basis for awarding attorneys' fees even when it does not apply. (See Diamond's Initial Brief pp. 16-17, citing Brown v. Gardens by the Sea South Condominium Association, 424 So. 2d 181, 184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and Rustic Village, Inc. v. Friedman, 417 So. 2d 305, 306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)). These cases are clearly distinguishable from the present one.

First, in both <u>Rustic Village</u> and <u>Brown</u>, FDUTPA was applied — it just did not produce a remedy for the plaintiffs. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Rustic Village</u>, 417 So. 2d at 306

(although suits between competitors were not covered by FDUTPA, attorneys' fees still warranted because the "...Act was applied in the action. It is simply that after being applied, it did not produce a remedy for this plaintiff"); Brown v. Gardens, 424 at 184 (same). This is clearly different from the present case, where FDUTPA was never applied at any point and the application of Florida tort law does not even have a jurisdictional basis.

Second, neither of these cases analyzed the award of attorneys' fees under FDUTPA by applying a strict construction test. Statutes permitting an award of attorneys' fees must be strictly construed because they are in derogation of common law. Campbell v. Goldman, 959 So. 2d 223, 226 (Fla. 2007). Neither court in Rustic Village or Brown, however, even analyzed the wording of Section 501.2105, which only permits an award of fees if a party "prevailed" under FDUTPA. Dr. Horowitch did not fail to prove that Diamond's actions constituted a violation of FDUTPA because Arizona law governed the parties dispute, and thus Dr. Horowitch was never permitted to litigate the merits of his claim under FDUTPA. Thus, a strict construction reading of Section 501.2105 also contradicts the cases cited by Diamond.

Third, <u>Brown v. Gardens</u> and <u>Rustic Village</u> rely on the implicit premise that because a party pleads a claim under a statute, they are estopped from arguing

against any award for attorneys' fees made pursuant to that statute. Diamond makes a similar estoppel argument in its brief:

...it is inconceivable that a party can pursue a statutory claim (which supplies a basis for attorneys' fees) over a defendant's objections, then latter claim he does not owe attorneys' fees when the court says he is wrong to pursue it.

(Initial Brief of Appellant Diamond Aircraft Industries, Inc. ("Diamond's Initial Brief") at p. 20). This Court, however, has rejected the argument that a party subjects itself to attorneys' fees merely by pleading a claim for them. See Gibson v. Courtois, 539 So. 2d 459, 460 (Fla. 1989).

In <u>Gibson</u>, the prevailing party sought attorneys' fees based on a contractual provision. This Court, however, held that if the contract never came into existence, then the prevailing party was not entitled to attorneys' fees under that contract. Importantly, this Court noted that the fact that the losing party pled for attorneys' fees was not relevant. <u>Id.</u> Florida appellate courts have similarly denied attorneys' fees where the parties plead such fees without a statutory or contractual basis. <u>Kovack Securities Inc. v. Bailey</u>, 933 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); <u>Downey v. The Surf Club Apartments</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 689 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). Similarly, even though Dr. Horowitch's original deceptive trade practices claim encompassed a claim for attorneys' fees, such pleading does not create a basis for Diamond to seek such fees when there is no basis for applying FDUTPA in the present case.

It also bears noting that contrary to Diamond's assertion, Dr. Horowitch did not aggressively pursue a FDUTPA claim for several months. Although Diamond did file a motion to dismiss the deceptive trade practices claim which Dr. Horowitch opposed, Dr. Horowitch clearly stated at his very first opportunity that Arizona law should govern the parties' dispute if the Florida contractual choice of law clause was not controlling. (48:9-10). The later disposition of this issue was not due to Dr. Horowitch's insistence on litigating FDUTPA, but rather to the district court's decision that further discovery was required to resolve it. (57:3). Notably, Diamond's attempts to obstruct discovery, for which it was repeatedly sanctioned by the district court, (75:3-4 and 143:13-14), was the largest contributor to the delayed ruling. Dr. Horowitch should not be required to pay attorneys' fees merely because he asserted a claim which raised a choice of law issue.

Finally, Diamond cites <u>Mandel v. Decorator's Mart, Inc. of Deerfield Beach</u> to argue that the attorney's fee provision of FDUTPA is meant to deter plaintiffs from complicating simple contractual disputes and increasing litigation expenses by injecting claims of fraud into the analysis. 965 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) (attorney's fee provision in FDUTPA deters claims that complicate suit and increase financial risk for both sides). Diamond fails to explain, however, why Florida policy considerations are relevant in a case where Arizona law was applied to a dispute that arose in Arizona between citizens of Canada and Arizona.

Furthermore, choice of law issues are usually resolved early in litigation, so there is little reason to punish plaintiffs who bring a deceptive trade practices claim under FDUTPA that is later held to be controlled by another state's statute. Such a policy would strongly discourage plaintiffs from asserting an unfair and deceptive trade practices claim where a choice of law issue may exist.

For all of these reasons, this Court should answer "no" to the Eleventh Circuit's third certified question.

II. EVEN IF FDUTPA DOES PROVIDE A BASIS FOR AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES, IT CANNOT BE USED AS A BASIS TO AWARD FEES FOR THE ENTIRETY OF THE LITIGATION.

Even if Diamond could collect attorneys' fees under FDUTPA, the statute only permits an award of fees for litigation "resulting from an act or practice involving a violation of" FDUTPA, and therefore Diamond is barred from collecting any attorneys' fees it incurred after Arizona law was determined to govern Dr. Horowitch's deceptive trade practices claim. Despite the clear language of Section 501.2105 the Eleventh Circuit posed the following question on this issue:

IF FLA. STAT. 501.2105 APPLIES UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED IN THE **PREVIOUS** OUESTION, DOES IT APPLY ONLY TO THE PERIOD OF LITIGATION UP TO THE POINT THAT THE DISTRICT COURT HELD THAT THE PLAINTIFF COULD NOT PURSUE THE FDUTPA CLAIM BECAUSE FLORIDA LAW DID NOT APPLY TO HIS UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES CLAIM, OR DOES IT APPLY TO THE ENTIRETY OF THE LITIGATION?

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